Contents

ARTICLE 1 - GENERAL PROVISIONS	
32-2001. Definitions	
32-2002. Board of physical therapy; appointment; qualifications	5
32-2003. Board; powers and duties	5
32-2004. Board of physical therapy fund; appropriation; deposit of receipts by board	7
ARTICLE 2 - LICENSURE AND EXAMINATION	
32-2021. Persons and activities not required to be licensed	7
32-2022. Qualifications for licensure and certification; fingerprint clearance card	
32-2023. Application; denial; hearing	
32-2024. Examinations	
32-2025. Interim permits	
32-2026. Licensure or certification by endorsement	
32-2027. License or certificate renewal; suspension	
32-2028. Reinstatement of license or certificate	
32-2029. Fees	
32-2030. Business entities; patient records; protocol; exemptions; rules	
32-2031. Retired status; reinstatement to active status	
32-2032. Inactive status; reinstatement to active status	
ARTICLE 3 - REGULATION OF PHYSICAL THERAPY	
32-2041. Lawful practice	
32-2041.01. Musculoskeletal imaging; ordering; requirements; reporting	
32-2042. Use of titles; restrictions; violation; classification	
32-2043. Supervision; patient care management	19
32-2044. Grounds for disciplinary action	
32-2045. Investigative powers; emergency action	
32-2046. Informal and formal hearings	
32-2047. Disciplinary actions; penalties	
32-2048. Unlawful practice; classification; injunctive relief; deposit of civil penalties	
32-2049. Disclosure prohibition	
32-2050. Substance abuse recovery program	
32-2051. Rights of consumers	

32-2052. Judicial review	
32-2053. Physical therapy licensure compact	
32-2054. Participation in compact as condition of employment; prohibition	42
32-2055. Open meeting requirements	42
32-2056. Board of physical therapy; notice of commission actions; expenditure of certain monies proh	ibited
	43

ARTICLE 1 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

32-2001. Definitions

In this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires:

1. "Assistive personnel":

(a) Includes:

(i) Physical therapist assistants.

(ii) Physical therapy aides.

(iii) Other assistive personnel who are trained or educated health care providers and who are not physical therapist assistants or physical therapy aides but who perform specific designated tasks related to physical therapy under the supervision of a physical therapist. At the discretion of the supervising physical therapist, and if properly credentialed and not prohibited by any other law, other assistive personnel may be identified by the title specific to their training or education.

(b) Does not include personnel assisting other health care professionals licensed pursuant to this title in performing delegable treatment responsibilities within their scope of practice.

2. "Board" means the board of physical therapy.

3. "Business entity" means a business organization that has an ownership that includes any persons who are not licensed or certified to provide physical therapy services in this state, that offers to the public professional services regulated by the board and that is established pursuant to the laws of any state or foreign country.

4. "Dry needling" means a skilled intervention performed by a physical therapist that uses a thin filiform needle to penetrate the skin and stimulate underlying neural, muscular and connective tissues to evaluate and manage neuromusculoskeletal conditions, pain and movement impairments.

5. "General supervision" means that the supervising physical therapist is on call and is readily available via telecommunications when the physical therapist assistant is providing treatment interventions.

6. "Interim permit" means a permit issued by the board that allows a person to practice as a physical therapist in this state or to work as a physical therapist assistant for a specific period of time and under conditions prescribed by the board before that person is issued a license or certificate.

7. "Manual therapy techniques" means a broad group of passive interventions in which physical therapists use their hands to administer skilled movements designed to modulate pain, increase joint range of motion, reduce or eliminate soft tissue swelling, inflammation or restriction, induce relaxation, improve contractile and noncontractile tissue extensibility, and improve pulmonary function. These interventions involve a variety of techniques, such as the application of graded forces.

8. "On-site supervision" means that the supervising physical therapist is on site and is present in the facility or on the campus where assistive personnel or a holder of an interim permit is performing services, is immediately available to assist the person being supervised in the services being performed and maintains continued involvement in appropriate aspects of each treatment session in which a component of treatment is delegated.

9. "Physical therapist" means a person who is licensed pursuant to this chapter.

10. "Physical therapist assistant" means a person who meets the requirements of this chapter for certification and who performs physical therapy procedures and related tasks that have been selected and delegated by the supervising physical therapist.

11. "Physical therapy" means the care and services provided by or under the direction and supervision of a physical therapist who is licensed pursuant to this chapter.

12. "Physical therapy aide" means a person who is trained under the direction of a physical therapist and who performs designated and supervised routine physical therapy tasks.

13. "Practice of physical therapy" means:

(a) Examining, evaluating and testing persons who have mechanical, physiological and developmental impairments, functional limitations and disabilities or other health and movement related conditions in order to determine a diagnosis, a prognosis and a plan of therapeutic intervention and to assess the ongoing effects of intervention, including ordering musculoskeletal imaging consisting of plain film radiographs.

(b) Alleviating impairments and functional limitations by managing, designing, implementing and modifying therapeutic interventions including:

(i) Therapeutic exercise.

(ii) Functional training in self-care and in home, community or work reintegration.

- (iii) Manual therapy techniques.
- (iv) Therapeutic massage.

(v) Assistive and adaptive orthotic, prosthetic, protective and supportive devices and equipment.

- (vi) Pulmonary hygiene.
- (vii) Debridement and wound care.
- (viii) Physical agents or modalities.
- (ix) Mechanical and electrotherapeutic modalities.

(x) Patient related instruction.

(c) Reducing the risk of injury, impairments, functional limitations and disability by means that include promoting and maintaining a person's fitness, health and quality of life.

(d) Engaging in administration, consultation, education and research.

14. "Restricted certificate" means a certificate on which the board places any restrictions as the result of a disciplinary action.

15. "Restricted license" means a license on which the board places restrictions or conditions, or both, as to the scope of practice, place of practice, supervision of practice, duration of licensed status or type or condition of a patient to whom the licensee may provide services.

16. "Restricted registration" means a registration on which the board places any restrictions as the result of disciplinary action.

32-2002. Board of physical therapy; appointment; qualifications

- A. The board of physical therapy is established consisting of members appointed by the governor pursuant to section 38-211. Four members shall be physical therapists who are residents of this state, possess an unrestricted license to practice physical therapy in this state and have been practicing in this state for at least five years before their appointment. One member shall be a physical therapist assistant who is a resident of this state, possesses an unrestricted certificate issued pursuant to this chapter and has been performing selected interventions in this state for at least five years before the person's appointment. The governor shall also appoint two public members who are residents of this state and who are not affiliated with, and do not have a financial interest in, any health care profession but who have an interest in consumer rights.
- B. Board members serve staggered four year terms. Board members shall not serve for more than two successive four year terms or for more than ten consecutive years. By approval of a majority of the board, a member's service may extend at the completion of a four year term until a new member is appointed or the current member is reappointed.
- C. If requested by the board the governor may remove a board member for misconduct, incompetence or neglect of duty.
- D. Board members are eligible for reimbursement of expenses pursuant to title 38, chapter 4, article 2 to cover necessary expenses for attending each board meeting or for representing the board in an official board approved activity.
- E. A board member who acts within the scope of board duties, without malice and in the reasonable belief that the person's action is warranted by law is immune from civil liability.

32-2003. Board; powers and duties

- A. The board shall:
 - 1. Evaluate the qualifications of applicants for licensure and certification.
 - 2. Provide for national examinations for physical therapists and physical therapist assistants and adopt passing scores for these examinations.
 - 3. Issue licenses, permits and certificates to persons who meet the requirements of this chapter.
 - 4. Regulate the practice of physical therapy by interpreting and enforcing this chapter.
 - 5. Adopt and revise rules to enforce this chapter.
 - 6. Meet at least once each quarter in compliance with the open meeting requirements of title 38, chapter 3, article 3.1 and keep an official record of these meetings.
 - 7. Establish the mechanisms for assessing continuing professional competence of physical therapists to engage in the practice of physical therapy and the competence of physical therapist assistants to work in the field of physical therapy.
 - 8. At its first regular meeting after the start of each calendar year, elect officers from among its members and as necessary to accomplish board business.
 - 9. Provide for the timely orientation and training of new professional and public appointees to the board regarding board licensing and disciplinary procedures, this chapter, board rules and board procedures.
 - 10. Maintain a current list of all persons regulated under this chapter. This list shall include the person's name, current business and residential addresses, telephone numbers and license or certificate number.
 - 11. Subject to title 41, chapter 4, article 4, employ necessary personnel to carry out the administrative work of the board. Board personnel are eligible to receive compensation pursuant to section 38-611.
 - 12. Enter into contracts for services necessary for adequate enforcement of this chapter.
 - 13. Report final disciplinary action taken against a licensee or a certificate holder to a national disciplinary database recognized by the board.
 - 14. Publish, at least annually, final disciplinary actions taken against a licensee or a certificate holder.
 - 15. Publish, at least annually, board rulings, opinions and interpretations of statutes or rules in order to guide persons regulated pursuant to this chapter.
 - 16. Not later than December 31 of each year, submit a written report of its actions and proceedings to the governor.

- 17. Establish and collect fees.
- 18. Provide information to the public regarding the board, its processes and consumer rights.
- B. The board may establish a committee or committees to assist it in carrying out its duties for a time prescribed by the board. The board may require a committee appointed pursuant to this subsection to make regular reports to the board.

32-2004. Board of physical therapy fund; appropriation; deposit of receipts by board

- A. The board of physical therapy fund is established. The board shall administer the fund.
- B. Except as provided in section 32-2048, pursuant to sections 35-146 and 35-147, the board shall deposit ten per cent of all monies collected under this chapter in the state general fund and deposit the remaining ninety per cent in the board of physical therapy fund.
- C. Monies deposited in the physical therapy fund are subject to section 35-143.01.

ARTICLE 2 - LICENSURE AND EXAMINATION

32-2021. Persons and activities not required to be licensed

- A. This chapter does not restrict a person who is licensed under any other law of this state from engaging in the profession or practice for which that person is licensed if that person does not claim to be a physical therapist or a provider of physical therapy.
- B. This chapter does not restrict the use of physical agents, modalities or devices by persons qualified under this title to personally render or delegate the use of this treatment.
- C. The following persons are exempt from the licensure requirements of this chapter:
 - 1. A person in a professional education program approved by the board who is satisfying supervised clinical education requirements related to the person's physical therapist or physical therapist assistant education while under the on-site supervision of a physical therapist.
 - 2. A physical therapist who is practicing or a physical therapist assistant who is working in the United States armed services, United States public health service or veterans administration pursuant to federal regulations for state licensure of health care providers.
 - 3. A physical therapist who is licensed in another jurisdiction of the United States or a foreign educated physical therapist credentialed in another country if that person is performing physical therapy in

connection with teaching or participating in an educational seminar for not more than sixty days in any twelve month period.

- 4. A physical therapist who is licensed in another jurisdiction of the United States or who is credentialed in another country if that person by contract or employment is providing physical therapy to persons who are affiliated with or employed by established athletic teams, athletic organizations or performing arts companies temporarily practicing, competing or performing in this state for not more than sixty days in a calendar year.
- 5. A physical therapist who is licensed in another jurisdiction of the United States and who enters this state to provide physical therapy to victims of a declared local, state or national disaster or emergency. This exemption applies for the duration of the declared emergency but not longer than sixty days. The physical therapist must also register with the board before practicing.

32-2022. Qualifications for licensure and certification; fingerprint clearance card

- A. An applicant for a license as a physical therapist who has been educated in the United States shall:
- 1. Complete the application process.
- 2. Be a graduate of a professional physical therapy education program that is accredited by a national accreditation agency approved by the board.
- 3. Have successfully passed the national examination approved by the board.
- 4. Have successfully passed a jurisprudence examination that tests the applicant's knowledge of board statutes and rules.
- 5. Obtain a valid fingerprint clearance card issued pursuant to section 41-1758.03.
- B. An applicant for a license as a physical therapist who has been educated outside of the United States shall:
- 1. Complete the application process.
- 2. Provide satisfactory evidence that the applicant's education is substantially equivalent to the requirements of physical therapists educated in accredited educational programs as determined by the board. If the board determines that a foreign-educated applicant's education is not substantially equivalent, it may require the person to complete additional coursework before it proceeds with the application process. It is not necessary that coursework completed by the applicant be identical in all respects to that required by an education program in the United States for an entry-level physical therapy degree, but all required content areas must be evident as required by board rules. Deficiencies may occur only in coursework and not in essential areas of professional education and shall not be of a magnitude that would cause the education to be deemed below entry-level preparation for practice in this state.

- 3. Provide written proof of legal authorization to practice as a physical therapist without limitation in the country where the professional education occurred. The board may waive this requirement on receipt of written proof that the applicant cannot demonstrate legal authorization based on the citizenship requirements of the country where the professional education occurred.
- 4. Provide proof of legal authorization to reside and seek employment in the United States or its territories.
- 5. Have passed the board-approved English proficiency examinations if the applicant's native language is not English.
- 6. Have participated in an interim supervised clinical practice period before licensure as approved by the board or shall have already met this requirement to the board's satisfaction by virtue of the applicant's clinical practice in another jurisdiction of the United States.
- 7. Have successfully passed the national examination approved by the board.
- 8. Have successfully passed a jurisprudence examination that tests the applicant's knowledge of board statutes and rules.
- 9. Obtain a valid fingerprint clearance card issued pursuant to section 41-1758.03.
- C. Notwithstanding the requirements of subsection B of this section, if the foreign-educated physical therapist applicant is a graduate of an accredited educational program as determined by the board, the board may waive the requirements of subsection B, paragraphs 2 and 6 of this section.
- D. An applicant for certification as a physical therapist assistant shall meet the following requirements:
- 1. Complete the application process.
- 2. Be a graduate of a physical therapist assistant education program accredited by an agency approved by the board.
- 3. Have successfully passed the national examination approved by the board.
- 4. Have successfully passed a jurisprudence examination that tests the applicant's knowledge of board statutes and rules.
- 5. Obtain a valid fingerprint clearance card issued pursuant to section 41-1758.03.
- E. For the purposes of subsection B, paragraph 2 of this section, "substantially equivalent" means that the applicant provides documentation satisfactory to the board that:
- 1. The applicant graduated from a physical therapist education program that prepares the applicant to engage without restriction in the practice of physical therapy.

- 2. The applicant's school of physical therapy education is recognized by its own ministry of education. The board may waive this requirement for good cause shown.
- 3. The applicant has undergone a credentials evaluation as directed by the board that determines that the applicant has met uniform criteria for educational requirements pursuant to board rules.
- 4. The applicant has completed any additional education required by the board.

32-2023. Application; denial; hearing

- A. An applicant for licensure or certification shall file a completed application as required by the board. The applicant shall include the application fee prescribed in section 32-2029.
- B. The board may deny a license or certificate to an applicant, a licensee or a certificate holder for any of the following:
 - 1. Knowingly making a false statement of fact required to be revealed in the initial application, renewal application or reinstatement application for a license or certificate.
 - 2. Committing fraud in the procurement of a license or certificate.
 - 3. Committing a felony, whether or not involving moral turpitude, or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude. In either case conviction by a court of competent jurisdiction is conclusive evidence of the commission.
 - 4. Attempting to engage in conduct that subverts or undermines the integrity of the examination or the examination process, including using in any manner recalled or memorized examination questions from or with a person or entity, failing to comply with all test center security procedures, communicating or attempting to communicate with other examinees during the examination or copying or sharing examination questions or portions or questions.
 - 5. Engaging in any conduct that would be considered a violation of section 32-2044.
- C. If the board denies an application because of deficiencies in an application or for a reason prescribed in subsection B of this section, the board must inform an applicant of those specific deficiencies. On receipt of a written request by an applicant who disagrees with the board's decision to deny an application, the board shall hold a hearing pursuant to title 41, chapter 6, article 10.

32-2024. Examinations

- A. The board shall prescribe examinations for licensure and certification and determine the passing score.
- B. An applicant may take the examinations for licensure if either of the following applies:

- 1. The applicant has met all of the requirements of section 32-2022, subsection A, paragraphs 1 and 2 and has paid the fees prescribed by this chapter.
- 2. The applicant has:
- (a) Met all of the requirements of section 32-2022, subsection A, paragraph 1.
- (b) Paid the fees prescribed by this chapter.
- (c) Submitted with the application a letter on the official letterhead of the accredited educational institution where the applicant is completing an accredited educational program that includes the signature of the program director, the department chairperson or a similarly authorized person of the university or college and that states that:
- (i) The applicant is a candidate for a degree as a physical therapist at the next scheduled graduation date.
- (ii) The date the national examination for licensure is to be taken by the applicant is the one nearest to and before the applicant's expected graduation date and is not more than one hundred twenty days before the date of the applicant's expected graduation date.
- (iii) The applicant meets any other established requirements of the accredited educational program, if applicable.
- C. An applicant may take the examinations for licensure if the applicant has met all of the requirements of section 32-2022, subsection B, paragraphs 1 through 5 and has paid the fees prescribed by this chapter.
- D. An applicant may take the examinations for certification if either of the following applies:
- 1. The applicant has met all of the requirements of section 32-2022, subsection D, paragraphs 1 and 2 and has paid the fees prescribed by this chapter.
- 2. The applicant has:
- (a) Met all of the requirements of section 32-2022, subsection D, paragraph 1.
- (b) Paid the fees prescribed by this chapter.
- (c) Submitted with the application a letter on the official letterhead of the accredited educational institution where the applicant is completing an accredited educational program that includes the signature of the program director, the department chairperson or a similarly authorized person of the university, school or college and that states that:
- (i) The applicant is a candidate for a certificate or degree as a physical therapist assistant at the next scheduled graduation date.

- (ii) The date the national examination for certification is to be taken by the applicant is the one nearest to and before the applicant's expected graduation date and is not more than one hundred twenty days before the date of the applicant's expected graduation date.
- (iii) The applicant meets any other established requirements of the accredited educational program, if applicable.
- E. An applicant for licensure or certification who does not pass the national examination after the first attempt may retake the examination one additional time within six months after the first failure without reapplication for licensure or certification. An applicant may retake the examinations as prescribed by the organization that administers the examinations.
- F. The board shall not issue a license or certificate to a person who passes an examination through fraud.
- G. The national examination for licensure as a physical therapist shall test entry-level competence related to physical therapy theory, examination and evaluation, diagnosis, prognosis, treatment intervention, prevention and consultation. The national examination for certification as a physical therapist assistant shall test for requisite knowledge and skills in the technical application of physical therapy services.

32-2025. Interim permits

- A. If a foreign educated applicant satisfies the requirements of section 32-2022, subsection B, before the board issues a license it shall issue an interim permit to the applicant for the purpose of participating in a supervised clinical practice period. An applicant who fails the national examination is not eligible for an interim permit until the applicant passes the examination.
- B. If an applicant who has been educated in the United States satisfies the requirements of section 32-2022, subsection A or D, but the board determines that there is evidence that the applicant lacks the competence to practice as a physical therapist or work as a physical therapist assistant, the board shall issue an interim permit to the applicant to allow that person to participate in a supervised clinical practice.
- C. The board may issue an interim permit for at least ninety days but not more than six months.
- D. An interim permit holder shall complete, to the satisfaction of the board, a period of clinical practice in a facility approved by the board and under the continuous and on-site supervision of a physical therapist who holds an unrestricted license issued pursuant to this chapter.
- E. At any time during an interim supervised clinical practice period, the board may revoke an interim permit because of the permit holder's incompetence or for a violation of this chapter. Pursuant to title 41, chapter 6, article 10, the board shall hold a hearing on request of a permit holder whose permit is revoked.

32-2026. Licensure or certification by endorsement

- A. The board shall issue a license to a physical therapist who has a valid unrestricted license from another jurisdiction of the United States if that person, when granted the license, met all of the requirements prescribed in section 32-2022, subsection A or B and any applicable board rules.
- B. The board shall issue a certificate to a physical therapist assistant who has a valid unrestricted license or certificate from another jurisdiction of the United States if that person, when granted the license or certificate, meets all of the requirements prescribed in section 32-2022, subsection D and any applicable board rules.

32-2027. License or certificate renewal; suspension

- A. A licensee or certificate holder shall renew the license or certificate pursuant to board rules. Except as provided in section 32-4301, a licensee or certificate holder who fails to renew the license or certificate on or before its expiration date shall not practice as a physical therapist or work as a physical therapist assistant in this state.
- B. The board shall administratively suspend a license or certificate if the licensee or certificate holder does not submit a complete application for renewal and pay the renewal fee pursuant to board rules.

32-2028. Reinstatement of license or certificate

- A. The board may reinstate a license or certificate that it suspended pursuant to section 32-2027, subsection B on payment of a renewal fee and reinstatement fee and completion of the application process as prescribed by the board.
- B. If a person's license or certificate has been suspended pursuant to section 32-2027, subsection B for more than three consecutive years, the license or certificate expires and that person shall reapply for a license or certificate pursuant to section 32-2022 or 32-2026 and pay all applicable fees. The person must also demonstrate to the board's satisfaction competency by satisfying one or more of the following as prescribed by the board:
 - 1. Practicing for a specified time under an interim permit.
 - 2. Completing remedial courses.
 - 3. Completing continuing competence requirements for the period of the lapsed license.
 - 4. Passing an examination.

32-2029. Fees

The board shall establish and collect fees of not more than:

1. Three hundred dollars for an application for an original license or certificate. This fee is nonrefundable.

- 2. Three hundred dollars for a certificate of renewal of a license or certificate.
- 3. Three hundred dollars for an application for reinstatement of licensure.
- 4. Fifty dollars for each duplicate license or certificate.

32-2030. Business entities; patient records; protocol; exemptions; rules

- A. Beginning September 1, 2011, a business entity shall not offer physical therapy services pursuant to this chapter unless:
 - 1. The business entity is registered with the board pursuant to this section.
 - 2. The physical therapy services are conducted by a licensee or certificate holder pursuant to this chapter.
- B. The business entity must file a registration application on a form prescribed by the board. The application shall include:
 - 1. A description of the entity's services offered to the public.
 - 2. The name of the manager who is authorized and who is responsible for managing the physical therapy services offered at each office.
 - 3. The names and addresses of the officers and directors of the business entity.
 - 4. A registration fee prescribed by the board by rule.
- C. A business entity must file a separate registration application and pay a fee for each branch office in this state.
- D. A registration expires on August 31 of odd numbered years in accordance with the physical therapist professional licensing schedule. A business entity that wishes to renew a registration must submit an application for renewal as prescribed by the board on a biennial basis on a form prescribed by the board before the expiration date. An entity that fails to renew the registration before the expiration date is subject to a late fee as prescribed by the board by rule.
- E. The business entity must notify the board in writing within thirty days after any change:
 - 1. In the business entity's name, address or telephone number.
 - 2. In the officers or directors of the business entity.
 - 3. In the name of the manager who is authorized and who is responsible for managing the physical therapy services in any facility.

- F. The business entity must establish and implement a written protocol for the secure storage, transfer and access of the physical therapy records of the business entity's patients. This protocol must include, at a minimum, procedures for:
 - 1. Notifying patients of the future locations of their records if the business entity terminates or sells the practice.
 - 2. Disposing of unclaimed physical therapy records.
 - 3. The timely response to requests by patients for copies of their records.
- G. The business entity must notify the board within thirty days after the dissolution of any registered business entity or the closing or relocation of any facility and must disclose to the board the entity's procedure by which its patients may obtain their records.
- H. This section does not apply to:
 - 1. A sole proprietorship or partnership that consists exclusively of persons who are licensed by a health profession regulatory board as defined in section 32-3201.
 - 2. A facility regulated by the federal government or a state, district or territory of the United States.
 - 3. An administrator or executor of the estate of a deceased physical therapist or a person who is legally authorized to act for a physical therapist who has been adjudicated to be mentally incompetent for not more than one year from the date the board receives notice of the physical therapist's death or incapacitation.
 - 4. A health care institution that is licensed pursuant to title 36.
- I. A facility that offers physical therapy services to the public by persons licensed under this chapter must be registered by the board unless the facility is any of the following:
 - 1. Owned by a licensee.
 - 2. Regulated by the federal government or a state, district or territory of the United States.
- J. Except for issues relating to insurance coding and billing that require the name, signature and license number of the physical therapist providing treatment, this section does not:
 - 1. Authorize a licensee in the course of providing physical therapy services for an entity registered pursuant to this section to disregard or interfere with a policy or practice established by the entity for the operation and management of the business.

- 2. Authorize a business entity registered pursuant to this section to establish or enforce a business policy or practice that may interfere with the professional judgment of the licensee in providing physical therapy services for the business entity or may compromise a licensee's ability to comply with this chapter.
- K. The board shall adopt rules that provide a method for the board to receive the assistance and advice of business entities registered pursuant to this section in all matters relating to the regulation of business entities.
- L. The board shall adopt rules necessary to enforce this chapter in the practice settings of its licensees, certificate holders and registrants if the practice settings are not regulated by the department of health services.

32-2031. Retired status; reinstatement to active status

- A. The board shall place a licensee or certificate holder on retired status and waive the renewal fee and continuing competence requirements if a licensee or certificate holder presents a written affidavit to the board that the licensee or certificate holder has retired from the practice of physical therapy or from work as a physical therapist assistant, is in good standing with the board and has paid all fees required by this chapter before the waiver.
- B. During the period of waiver pursuant to subsection A, the retired licensee or certificate holder may not engage in the practice of physical therapy or work as a physical therapist assistant.
- C. A retired licensee or certificate holder must renew the retired license or certificate every two years by verifying the person's contact information and using the same schedule for renewal of an active license or certificate. The board may not charge a fee for renewal of a retired license or certificate.
- D. If a licensee or certificate holder fails to renew the retired status of the license or certificate on or before its expiration date, the retired license or certificate expires. If the person seeks to reinstate the person's retired status after the retired license or certificate has expired, the person must make a request for retired status pursuant to subsection A.
- E. The board may reinstate a retired licensee or certificate holder to active practice or work on payment of the renewal fee and presentation of evidence satisfactory to the board that the retired licensee or certificate holder is professionally able to engage in the practice of physical therapy or work as a physical therapist assistant and still possesses the professional knowledge required. If the retired licensee or certificate holder has held a retired license or certificate for more than three consecutive years, the person must also demonstrate competency to the board's satisfaction by satisfying one or more of the following as prescribed by the board:
 - 1. Practicing or working for a specified time under an interim permit.
 - 2. Completing remedial courses.
 - 3. Completing continuing competence requirements for the period of the retired license or certificate.

4. Passing an examination as prescribed by the board.

32-2032. Inactive status; reinstatement to active status

- A. The board shall place a licensee or certificate holder on inactive status and waive the continuing competence requirements if a licensee or certificate holder presents a written affidavit to the board that the licensee or certificate holder is not currently engaged in the practice of physical therapy or working as a physical therapist assistant in this state, is in good standing with the board and has paid all fees required by this chapter.
- B. During the period of inactive status pursuant to subsection A, the inactive licensee or certificate holder may not engage in the practice of physical therapy or work as a physical therapist assistant in this state.
- C. A licensee or certificate holder on inactive status must renew the inactive license or certificate every two years using the same schedule for renewal of an active license or certificate. The board by rule shall prescribe the fee for the renewal of an inactive license or certificate.
- D. An inactive licensee or certificate holder who applies to the board for reinstatement to active licensure or certification within three years after the date the board issues a notice of inactive status must submit the full annual license renewal fee and prove to the board's satisfaction that the licensee or certificate holder has met continuing competence requirements as prescribed by the board by rule.
- E. An inactive licensee or certificate holder who applies to the board for reinstatement to active licensure or certification and who has not been actively engaged in the practice of physical therapy or working as a physical therapist assistant in this state for more than three consecutive years after the date the board issues a notice of inactive status must submit the full annual license renewal fee and demonstrate competency to the board's satisfaction by satisfying one or more of the following as prescribed by the board:
 - 1. Practicing or working for a specified time under an interim permit.
 - 2. Completing remedial courses.
 - 3. Completing continuing competence requirements for the period of the inactive license or certificate.
 - 4. Passing an examination.

ARTICLE 3 - REGULATION OF PHYSICAL THERAPY

32-2041. Lawful practice

A. A physical therapist shall refer a client to appropriate health care practitioners if the physical therapist has reasonable cause to believe symptoms or conditions are present that require services beyond the scope of practice or if physical therapy is contraindicated.

- B. A physical therapist shall adhere to the recognized standards of ethics of the physical therapy profession and as further established by rule.
- C. A physical therapist licensed under this chapter shall practice physical therapy as prescribed by this chapter.

32-2041.01. Musculoskeletal imaging; ordering; requirements; reporting

- A. A physical therapist may order musculoskeletal imaging consisting of plain film radiographs. The imaging shall be performed by a health care practitioner who is authorized pursuant to this title to perform the imaging and shall be interpreted by a physician who is licensed pursuant to chapter 13, 14 or 17 of this title and trained in radiology interpretation.
- B. A physical therapist shall report results for all imaging tests the physical therapist orders pursuant to subsection A of this section to the patient's health care practitioner of record or the referring health care practitioner, if designated, within seven days after receiving the results. If the patient does not have a health care practitioner of record, the physical therapist shall refer the patient to an appropriate health care practitioner if the physical therapist has reasonable cause to believe that any symptoms or conditions are present that may require services beyond the physical therapist's scope of practice.

32-2042. Use of titles; restrictions; violation; classification

- A. A physical therapist shall use the letters "PT" in connection with the physical therapist's name or place of business to denote licensure under this chapter. A physical therapist on retired status shall use "(retired)" or "(ret.)" after the letters "PT" in connection with the physical therapist's name or place of business to denote the physical therapist's retired status pursuant to section 32-2031.
- B. A physical therapist assistant shall use the letters "PTA" in connection with that person's name to denote certification pursuant to this chapter. A physical therapist assistant on retired status shall use "(retired)" or "(ret.)" after the letters "PTA" in connection with the physical therapist assistant's name or place of business to denote the physical therapist assistant's retired status pursuant to section 32-2031.
- C. A person or business entity or its employees, agents or representatives shall not use in connection with that person's name or the name or activity of the business the words "physical therapy", "physical therapist", "physiotherapy", "physiotherapist" or "registered physical therapist", the letters "PT", "LPT", "RPT", "MPT", "DScPT" or "DPT" or any other words, abbreviations or insignia indicating or implying directly or indirectly that physical therapy is provided or supplied, including the billing of services labeled as physical therapy, unless these services are provided by or under the direction of a physical therapist who is licensed pursuant to this chapter. A person or entity that violates this subsection is guilty of a class 1 misdemeanor.
- D. A person or business entity shall not advertise, bill or otherwise promote a person who is not licensed pursuant to this chapter as being a physical therapist or offering physical therapy services.
- E. A person shall not use the title "physical therapist assistant" or use the letters "PTA" in connection with that person's name or any other words, abbreviations or insignia indicating or implying directly or indirectly that

the person is a physical therapist assistant unless that person is certified as a physical therapist assistant pursuant to this chapter. A person who violates this subsection is guilty of a class 1 misdemeanor.

32-2043. Supervision; patient care management

- A. A physical therapist is responsible for patient care given by assistive personnel under the physical therapist's supervision. A physical therapist may delegate to assistive personnel and supervise selected acts, tasks or procedures that fall within the scope of physical therapy practice but that do not exceed the education or training of the assistive personnel.
- B. A physical therapist assistant certified pursuant to this chapter may perform selected interventions under the general supervision of a physical therapist licensed pursuant to this chapter.
- C. A physical therapy aide and other assistive personnel shall perform designated routine tasks only under the on-site supervision of a licensed physical therapist who is present in the facility.
- D. A licensed physical therapist must provide on-site supervision of an interim permit holder.
- E. A physical therapist student and a physical therapist assistant student must practice under the on-site supervision of a licensed physical therapist.
- F. A physical therapist is responsible for managing all aspects of the physical therapy care of each patient. A physical therapist must provide:
 - 1. The initial evaluation of and documentation for a patient.
 - 2. Periodic reevaluation of and documentation for a patient.
 - 3. The documented discharge of a patient, including the response to therapeutic intervention at the time of discharge.
- G. A physical therapist must verify the qualifications of physical therapist assistants and other assistive personnel under the physical therapist's direction and supervision.
- H. For each patient on each date of service, a physical therapist must provide and document all of the therapeutic intervention that requires the expertise of a physical therapist and must determine the use of physical therapist assistants and other assistive personnel to ensure the delivery of care that is safe, effective and efficient. Documentation for each date of service must be as prescribed by the board by rule.
- I. A physical therapist assistant must document care provided but may do so without the co-signature of the supervising physical therapist if the physical therapist complies with the requirements of subsections G and H.
- J. A physical therapist's responsibility for patient care management includes accurate documentation and billing of the services provided.

32-2044. Grounds for disciplinary action

The following are grounds for disciplinary action:

- 1. Violating this chapter, board rules or a written board order.
- 2. Practicing or offering to practice beyond the scope of the practice of physical therapy.
- 3. Obtaining or attempting to obtain a license or certificate by fraud or misrepresentation.
- 4. Engaging in the performance of substandard care by a physical therapist due to a deliberate or negligent act or failure to act regardless of whether actual injury to the patient is established.
- 5. Engaging in the performance of substandard care by a physical therapist assistant, including exceeding the authority to perform tasks selected and delegated by the supervising licensee regardless of whether actual injury to the patient is established.
- 6. Failing to supervise assistive personnel, physical therapy students or interim permit holders in accordance with this chapter and rules adopted pursuant to this chapter.
- 7. Conviction of a felony, whether or not involving moral turpitude, or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude. In either case conviction by a court of competent jurisdiction is conclusive evidence of the commission and the board may take disciplinary action when the time for appeal has lapsed, when the judgment of conviction has been affirmed on appeal or when an order granting probation is made suspending the imposition of sentence, irrespective of a subsequent order. For the purposes of this paragraph, "conviction" means a plea or verdict of guilty or a conviction following a plea of nolo contendere.
- 8. Practicing as a physical therapist or working as a physical therapist assistant when physical or mental abilities are impaired by disease or trauma, by the use of controlled substances or other habit-forming drugs, chemicals or alcohol or by other causes.
- 9. Having had a license or certificate revoked or suspended or other disciplinary action taken or an application for licensure or certification refused, revoked or suspended by the proper authorities of another state, territory or country.
- 10. Engaging in sexual misconduct. For the purposes of this paragraph, "sexual misconduct" includes:
 - (a) Engaging in or soliciting sexual relationships, whether consensual or nonconsensual, while a providerpatient relationship exists.
 - (b) Making sexual advances, requesting sexual favors or engaging in other verbal conduct or physical contact of a sexual nature with patients.
 - (c) Intentionally viewing a completely or partially disrobed patient in the course of treatment if the viewing is not related to patient diagnosis or treatment under current practice standards.

- 11. Directly or indirectly requesting, receiving or participating in the dividing, transferring, assigning, rebating or refunding of an unearned fee or profiting by means of any credit or other valuable consideration such as an unearned commission, discount or gratuity in connection with the furnishing of physical therapy services. This paragraph does not prohibit the members of any regularly and properly organized business entity recognized by law and composed of physical therapists from dividing fees received for professional services among themselves as they determine necessary to defray their joint operating expense.
- 12. Failing to adhere to the recognized standards of ethics of the physical therapy profession.
- 13. Charging unreasonable or fraudulent fees for services performed or not performed.
- 14. Making misleading, deceptive, untrue or fraudulent representations in violation of this chapter or in the practice of the profession.
- 15. Having been adjudged mentally incompetent by a court of competent jurisdiction.
- 16. Aiding or abetting a person who is not licensed or certified in this state and who directly or indirectly performs activities requiring a license or certificate.
- 17. Failing to report to the board any direct knowledge of an unprofessional, incompetent or illegal act that appears to be in violation of this chapter or board rules.
- 18. Interfering with an investigation or disciplinary proceeding by failing to cooperate, by willful misrepresentation of facts or by the use of threats or harassment against any patient or witness to prevent the patient or witness from providing evidence in a disciplinary proceeding or any legal action.
- 19. Failing to maintain patient confidentiality without prior written consent of the patient or unless otherwise required by law.
- 20. Failing to maintain adequate patient records. For the purposes of this paragraph, "adequate patient records" means legible records that comply with board rules and that contain at a minimum an evaluation of objective findings, a diagnosis, the plan of care, the treatment record, a discharge summary and sufficient information to identify the patient.
- 21. Promoting an unnecessary device, treatment intervention or service for the financial gain of the practitioner or of a third party.
- 22. Providing treatment intervention unwarranted by the condition of the patient or treatment beyond the point of reasonable benefit.
- 23. Failing to report to the board a name change or a change in business or home address within thirty days after that change.
- 24. Failing to complete continuing competence requirements as established by the board by rule.

25. Failing to demonstrate professional standards of care and training and education qualifications, as established by the board by rule, in the performance of dry needling when provided as a therapeutic modality.

32-2045. Investigative powers; emergency action

- A. To enforce this chapter the board may:
 - 1. Receive complaints filed against licensees or certificate holders and conduct a timely investigation.
 - 2. Conduct an investigation at any time and on its own initiative without receipt of a written complaint if the board has reason to believe that there may be a violation of this chapter.
 - 3. Issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of any witness or the production of any documentation relative to a case.
 - 4. Take emergency action ordering the summary suspension of a license or certificate or the restriction of the licensee's practice or certificate holder's employment pending proceedings by the board.
 - 5. Require a licensee or certificate holder to be examined in order to determine the licensee's or certificate holder's mental, physical or professional competence to practice or work in the field of physical therapy.
- B. If the board finds that the information received in a complaint or an investigation is not of sufficient seriousness to merit direct action against the licensee or certificate holder it may take either of the following actions:
 - 1. Dismiss the complaint if the board believes the information or complaint is without merit.
 - 2. Issue an advisory letter. The issuance of an advisory letter is a non-disciplinary action to notify a licensee or certificate holder that, while there is not sufficient evidence to merit disciplinary action, the board believes that the licensee or certificate holder should be educated about the requirements of this chapter and board rules. An advisory letter is a public document and may be used in future disciplinary actions against a licensee or certificate holder.
 - 3. Issue a nondisciplinary order requiring the licensee or certificate holder to complete a prescribed number of hours of continuing education in an area or areas prescribed by the board to provide the licensee or certificate holder with the necessary understanding of current standards, skills, procedures or treatment.
- C. The board shall notify a licensee or certificate holder of a complaint and the nature of the complaint within ninety days after receiving the complaint.
- D. Any person may submit a complaint regarding any licensee, certificate holder or other person potentially in violation of this chapter. Confidentiality shall be maintained subject to law.

E. The board shall keep confidential all information relating to the receipt and investigation of complaints filed against licensees and certificate holders until the information becomes public record or as required by law.

32-2046. Informal and formal hearings

- A. The board may request an informal hearing with a licensee, a certificate holder or any unlicensed person in order to further its investigation or to resolve a complaint.
- B. If at an informal hearing the board finds a violation of this chapter has occurred that constitutes grounds for disciplinary action, it may take any disciplinary actions prescribed in section 32-2047, paragraph 1, 2 or 6, except that a civil penalty may not exceed five hundred dollars.
- C. If the results of an informal hearing indicate that suspension, revocation or a civil penalty might be in order, the board shall notify the subject of the investigation of the time and place for a hearing pursuant to title 41, chapter 6, article 10.
- D. In lieu of or in addition to an informal hearing as provided in subsection A of this section, the board may serve on a licensee or a certificate holder a summons and complaint setting forth the grounds for disciplinary action and notice of a hearing to be held before the board at least thirty days after the date of the notice. The notice shall state the time and place of the hearing.
- E. A motion for rehearing or review of the board's decision in a disciplinary action shall be filed pursuant to title 41, chapter 6, article 10.
- F. The service of a summons and complaint and the service of a subpoena shall be as provided for service in civil cases.
- G. If a person disobeys a subpoena, the board may petition the superior court for an order requiring appearance or the production of documents.

32-2047. Disciplinary actions; penalties

- On proof that any grounds prescribed in section 32-2044 have been violated or that any requirements in section 32-2030 have been violated, the board may take the following disciplinary actions singly or in combination:
- 1. Issue a decree of censure.
- 2. Restrict a license, certificate or registration. The board may require a licensee, certificate holder or registrant to report regularly to the board on matters related to the grounds for the restricted license or certificate.
- 3. Suspend a license, certificate or registration for a period prescribed by the board.
- 4. Revoke a license, certificate or registration.
- 5. Refuse to issue or renew a license, certificate or registration.

- 6. Impose a civil penalty of at least two hundred fifty dollars but not more than ten thousand dollars for each violation of this chapter. In addition the board may assess and collect the reasonable costs incurred in a disciplinary hearing when action is taken against a person's license or certificate.
- 7. Accept a voluntary surrendering of a license, certificate or registration pursuant to an order of consent by the board.

32-2048. Unlawful practice; classification; injunctive relief; deposit of civil penalties

- A. It is unlawful for any person to practice or in any manner to claim to practice physical therapy or for a person to claim the designation of a physical therapist unless that person is licensed pursuant to this chapter. A person who engages in an activity requiring a license pursuant to this chapter or who uses any word, title or representation in violation of section 32-2042 that implies that the person is licensed to engage in the practice of physical therapy is guilty of a class 1 misdemeanor.
- B. The board may investigate any person to the extent necessary to determine if the person is engaged in the unlawful practice of physical therapy. If an investigation indicates that a person may be practicing physical therapy unlawfully, the board shall inform the person of the alleged violation. The board may refer the matter for prosecution regardless of whether the person ceases the unlawful practice of physical therapy.
- C. The board, through the appropriate county attorney or the office of the attorney general, may apply for injunctive relief in any court of competent jurisdiction to enjoin any person from committing any act in violation of this chapter. Injunction proceedings are in addition to, and not in lieu of, all penalties and other remedies prescribed in this chapter.
- D. The board shall deposit, pursuant to sections 35-146 and 35-147, all monies it collects from civil penalties pursuant to this chapter in the state general fund.

32-2049. Disclosure prohibition

The board shall not disclose the identity of a person who provides information unless this information is essential to proceedings conducted pursuant to sections 32-2045 and 32-2046 or unless required by a court.

32-2050. Substance abuse recovery program

- In lieu of a disciplinary proceeding prescribed by this article the board may permit a licensee or certificate holder to actively participate in a board approved substance abuse recovery program if:
- 1. The board has evidence that the licensee or certificate holder is an impaired professional.
- 2. The licensee or certificate holder has not been convicted of a felony relating to a controlled substance in a court of law of the United States or any other territory or country.
- 3. The licensee or certificate holder enters into a written agreement with the board for a restricted license and complies with all of the terms of the agreement, including making satisfactory progress in the program and

adhering to any limitations on the licensee's practice imposed by the board to protect the public. Failure to enter into such an agreement shall activate an immediate investigation and disciplinary proceedings by the board.

4. As part of the agreement established between the licensee or certificate holder and the board, the licensee or certificate holder signs a waiver allowing the substance abuse program to release information to the board if the licensee or certificate holder does not comply with the requirements of this section or is unable to practice with reasonable skill or safety.

32-2051. Rights of consumers

- A. The public has access to the following information:
 - 1. A list of licensees and interim permit holders that includes the licensee's and interim permit holder's place of practice, license or interim permit number, date of license or interim permit expiration and status of license or interim permit.
 - 2. A list of physical therapist assistants certified in this state, including place of employment, certificate number, date of certificate expiration and status of certificate.
 - 3. Public records.
- B. The home addresses and telephone numbers of physical therapists and physical therapist assistants are not public records and shall be kept confidential by the board unless they are the only addresses and telephone numbers of record.
- C. If a referring practitioner is deriving direct or indirect compensation from the referral to physical therapy the physical therapist shall disclose this information in writing to the patient.
- D. A physical therapist shall disclose in writing to a patient any financial interest in products the physical therapist endorses and recommends to the patient and shall document this disclosure in the patient's record.
- E. A physical therapist shall ensure that each patient understands that the patient has freedom of choice in services and products.
- F. Information relating to the physical therapist-patient relationship is confidential and shall not be communicated to a third party who is not involved in that patient's care without the prior written consent of the patient. The physical therapist shall divulge to the board information it requires in connection with any investigation, public hearing or other proceeding. The physical therapist-patient privilege does not extend to cases in which the physical therapist has a duty to report information as required by law. The confidentiality requirements and privileges of this subsection also apply to physical therapist assistants.
- G. Each licensee and certificate holder shall display a copy of the license or certificate and current renewal verification in a location accessible to public view at the licensee's place of practice. If the licensee or

certificate holder is unable to display the license, certificate or current renewal verification, the licensee or certificate holder must produce that documentation on request.

- H. The board shall keep all information relating to the receipt and investigation of complaints filed against a licensee or certificate holder confidential unless the information is disclosed in the course of the investigation or any subsequent proceeding or if that information is required to be disclosed by law.
- I. The following are confidential and are not available to the public:
 - 1. Patient records, including clinical records, files, any report or oral statement relating to a diagnostic finding or treatment of a patient.
 - 2. Any information from which a patient or a patient's family might be identified.
 - 3. Information received and records or reports kept by the board as a result of an investigation made pursuant to this chapter.

32-2052. Judicial review

Except as provided in section 41-1092.08, subsection H, final board decisions are subject to judicial review pursuant to title 12, chapter 7, article 6.

32-2053. Physical therapy licensure compact

The physical therapy licensure compact is adopted and enacted into law as follows:

Section 1

Purpose

- The purpose of this compact is to facilitate the interstate practice of physical therapy with the goal of improving public access to physical therapy services. The practice of physical therapy occurs in the state where the patient/client is located at the time of the patient/client encounter. This compact preserves the regulatory authority of states to protect the public health and safety through the current system of state licensure. This compact is designed to achieve the following objectives:
- 1. Increase public access to physical therapy services by providing for the mutual recognition of other member state licenses.
- 2. Enhance the states' ability to protect the public health and safety.
- 3. Encourage the cooperation of member states in regulating multistate physical therapy practice.
- 4. Support spouses of relocating military members.

- 5. Enhance the exchange of licensure, investigative and disciplinary information between member states.
- 6. Allow a remote state to hold a provider of services with a compact privilege in that state accountable to that state's practice standards.

Section 2

Definitions

As used in this compact, and except as otherwise provided, the following definitions shall apply:

- 1. "Active duty military" means full-time duty status in the active uniformed service of the United States, including members of the national guard and reserve on active duty orders pursuant to 10 United States Code section 1211.
- 2. "Adverse action" means disciplinary action taken by a physical therapy licensing board based on misconduct or unacceptable performance, or both.
- 3. "Alternative program" means a nondisciplinary monitoring or practice remediation process approved by a physical therapy licensing board, including a program relating to substance abuse issues.
- 4. "Compact privilege" means the authorization granted by a remote state to allow a licensee from another member state to practice as a physical therapist or work as a physical therapist assistant in the remote state under its laws and rules. The practice of physical therapy occurs in the member state where the patient/client is located at the time of the patient/client encounter.
- 5. "Continuing competence" means a requirement, as a condition of license renewal, to provide evidence of participation in or completion of educational and professional activities relevant to the practice or area of work.
- 6. "Data system" means a repository of information about licensees, including examination, licensure, investigative information, compact privilege and adverse action.
- 7. "Encumbered license" means a license that a physical therapy licensing board has limited in any way.
- 8. "Executive board" means a group of directors elected or appointed to act on behalf of, and within the powers granted by, the commission.
- 9. "Home state" means the member state that is the licensee's primary state of residence.
- 10. "Investigative information" means information, records and documents received or generated by a physical therapy licensing board pursuant to an investigation.
- 11. "Jurisprudence requirement" means the assessment of an individual's knowledge of the laws and rules governing the practice of physical therapy in a state.

- 12. "Licensee" means an individual who currently holds an authorization from the state to practice as a physical therapist or to work as a physical therapist assistant.
- 13. "Member state" means a state that has enacted the compact.
- 14. "Party state" means any member state in which a licensee holds a current license or compact privilege or is applying for a license or compact privilege.
- 15. "Physical therapist" means an individual who is licensed by a state to practice physical therapy.
- 16. "Physical therapist assistant" means an individual who is licensed or certified by a state and who assists the physical therapist in selected components of physical therapy.
- 17. "Physical therapy", "physical therapy practice" or "practice of physical therapy" means the care and services provided by or under the direction and supervision of a licensed physical therapist.
- 18. "Physical therapy compact commission" or "commission" means the national administrative body whose membership consists of all states that have enacted this compact.
- 19. "Physical therapy licensing board" or "licensing board" means the agency of a state that is responsible for the licensing and regulation of physical therapists and physical therapist assistants.
- 20. "Remote state" means a member state, other than the home state, where a licensee is exercising or seeking to exercise the compact privilege.
- 21. "Rule" means a regulation, principle or directive adopted by the commission that has the force of law.
- 22. "State" means any state, commonwealth, district or territory of the United States that regulates the practice of physical therapy.

Section 3

State participation in the compact

A. To participate in the compact, a state must do all of the following:

- 1. Participate fully in the commission's data system, including using the commission's unique identifier as defined in rules.
- 2. Have a mechanism in place for receiving and investigating complaints about licensees.
- 3. Notify the commission, in compliance with the terms of the compact and rules, of any adverse action or the availability of investigative information regarding a licensee.

- 4. Fully implement a criminal background check requirement, within a time frame established by rule, by receiving the results of the federal bureau of investigation record search on criminal background checks and use the results in making licensure decisions.
- 5. Comply with the rules of the commission.
- 6. Utilize a recognized national examination as a requirement for licensure pursuant to the rules of the commission.
- 7. Have continuing competence requirements as a condition for license renewal.
- B. On adoption of this compact, the member state shall have the authority to obtain biometric-based information from each physical therapy licensure applicant and submit this information to the federal bureau of investigation for a criminal background check in accordance with 28 United States Code section 534 and 42 United States Code section 14616.
- C. A member state shall grant the compact privilege to a licensee holding a valid unencumbered license in another member state in accordance with the terms of the compact and rules.
- D. Member states may charge a fee for granting a compact privilege.

Section 4

Compact privilege

- A. To exercise the compact privilege under the terms and provisions of the compact, the licensee shall meet all of the following requirements:
 - 1. Hold a license in the home state.
 - 2. Have no encumbrance on any state license.
 - 3. Be eligible for a compact privilege in any member state in accordance with subsections D, G and H of this section.
 - 4. Not have had any adverse action taken against any license or compact privilege within the previous two years.
 - 5. Notify the commission that the licensee is seeking the compact privilege within a remote state or states.
 - 6. Pay any applicable fees, including any state fee, for the compact privilege.
 - 7. Meet any jurisprudence requirement established by the remote state or states in which the licensee is seeking a compact privilege.

- 8. Report to the commission any adverse action taken by any nonmember state within thirty days after the date the adverse action is taken.
- B. The compact privilege is valid until the expiration date of the home license. The licensee must comply with the requirements of subsection A of this section to maintain the compact privilege in the remote state.
- C. A licensee providing physical therapy in a remote state under the compact privilege shall function within the laws and regulations of the remote state.
- D. A licensee providing physical therapy in a remote state is subject to that state's regulatory authority. A remote state, in accordance with due process and that state's laws, may remove a licensee's compact privilege in the remote state for a specific period of time, impose fines or take any other necessary actions to protect the health and safety of its citizens. The licensee is not eligible for a compact privilege in any state until the specific time for removal has passed and all fines are paid.
- E. If a home state license is encumbered, the licensee shall lose the compact privilege in any remote state until both of the following occur:
 - 1. The home state license is no longer encumbered.
 - 2. Two years have elapsed from the date of the adverse action.
- F. Once an encumbered license in the home state is restored to good standing, the licensee must meet the requirements of subsection A of this section to obtain a compact privilege in any remote state.
- G. If a licensee's compact privilege in any remote state is removed, the individual shall lose the compact privilege in any remote state until all of the following occur:
 - 1. The specific period of time for which the compact privilege was removed has ended.
 - 2. All fines have been paid.
 - 3. Two years have elapsed from the date of the adverse action.
- H. Once the requirements of subsection G of this section have been met, the licensee must meet the requirements in subsection A of this section to obtain a compact privilege in a remote state.

Section 5

Active duty military personnel or their spouses

- A licensee who is active duty military or is the spouse of an individual who is active duty military may designate one of the following as the home state:
 - 1. The home of record.

- 2. The permanent change of station.
- 3. The state of current residence if it is different than the permanent change of station state or home of record.

Section 6

Adverse actions

- A. A home state shall have exclusive power to impose an adverse action against a license issued by the home state.
- B. A home state may take an adverse action based on the investigative information of a remote state, so long as the home state follows its own procedures for imposing an adverse action.
- C. Nothing in this compact shall override a member state's decision that participation in an alternative program may be used in lieu of adverse action and that such participation shall remain nonpublic if required by the member state's laws. Member states must require licensees who enter any alternative programs in lieu of discipline to agree not to practice in any other member state during the term of the alternative program without prior authorization from such other member state.
- D. Any member state may investigate actual or alleged violations of the statutes and rules authorizing the practice of physical therapy in any other member state in which a physical therapist or physical therapist assistant holds a license or compact privilege.
- E. A remote state shall have the authority to do all of the following:
 - 1. Take adverse actions as set forth in section 4, subsection D of this compact against a licensee's compact privilege in the state.
 - 2. Issue subpoenas for both hearings and investigations that require the attendance and testimony of witnesses and the production of evidence. Subpoenas issued by a physical therapy licensing board in a party state for the attendance and testimony of witnesses or the production of evidence from another party state shall be enforced in the latter state by any court of competent jurisdiction, according to the practice and procedure of that court applicable to subpoenas issued in proceedings pending before it. The issuing authority shall pay any witness fees, travel expenses, mileage and other fees required by the service statutes of the state where the witnesses or evidence are located.
 - 3. If otherwise permitted by state law, recover from the licensee the costs of investigations and disposition of cases resulting from any adverse action taken against that licensee.
- F. Joint investigations are as follows:
 - 1. In addition to the authority granted to a member state by its respective physical therapy practice act or other applicable state law, a member state may participate with other member states in joint investigations of licensees.

2. Member states shall share any investigative, litigation or compliance materials in furtherance of any joint or individual investigation initiated under the compact.

Section 7

Establishment of the physical therapy compact commission

- A. The compact member states hereby create and establish a joint public agency known as the physical therapy compact commission to which the following apply:
 - 1. The commission is an instrumentality of the compact states.
 - 2. Venue is proper and judicial proceedings by or against the commission shall be brought solely and exclusively in a court of competent jurisdiction where the principal office of the commission is located. The commission may waive venue and jurisdictional defenses to the extent it adopts or consents to participate in alternative dispute resolution proceedings.
 - 3. Nothing in this compact shall be construed to be a waiver of sovereign immunity.
- B. Membership, voting and meetings are as follows:
 - 1. Each member state shall have and be limited to one delegate selected by that member state's licensing board.
 - 2. The delegate shall be a current member of the licensing board, who is a physical therapist, physical therapist assistant or public member or the board administrator.
 - 3. Any delegate may be removed or suspended from office as provided by the law of the state from which the delegate is appointed.
 - 4. The member state board shall fill any vacancy occurring in the commission.
 - 5. Each delegate shall be entitled to one vote with regard to the adoption of rules and creation of bylaws and shall otherwise have an opportunity to participate in the business and affairs of the commission.
 - 6. A delegate shall vote in person or by such other means as provided in the bylaws. The bylaws may provide for the delegate's participation in meetings by telephone or other means of communication.
 - 7. The commission shall meet at least once during each calendar year. Additional meetings shall be held as set forth in the bylaws.
- C. The commission shall have the following powers and duties:
 - 1. Establish the fiscal year of the commission.

- 2. Establish bylaws.
- 3. Maintain its financial records in accordance with the bylaws.
- 4. Meet and take such actions as are consistent with the provisions of this compact and the bylaws.
- 5. Adopt uniform rules to facilitate and coordinate implementation and administration of this compact. The rules shall have the force and effect of law and shall be binding in all member states.
- 6. Bring and prosecute legal proceedings or actions in the name of the commission, provided that the standing of any state physical therapy licensing board to sue or be sued under applicable law shall not be affected.
- 7. Purchase and maintain insurance and bonds.
- 8. Borrow, accept or contract for services of personnel, including employees of a member state.
- 9. Hire employees, elect or appoint officers, fix compensation, define duties and grant such individuals appropriate authority to carry out the purposes of the compact and to establish the commission's personnel policies and programs relating to conflicts of interest, qualifications of personnel, and other related personnel matters.
- 10. Accept any and all appropriate donations and grants of money, equipment, supplies, materials and services, and receive, utilize and dispose of the same, if at all times the commission avoids any appearance of impropriety or conflict of interest.
- 11. Lease, purchase, accept appropriate gifts or donations of or otherwise own, hold, improve or use any property, real, personal or mixed. at all times the commission shall avoid any appearance of impropriety.
- 12. Sell, convey, mortgage, pledge, lease, exchange, abandon or otherwise dispose of any property, real, personal or mixed.
- 13. Establish a budget and make expenditures.
- 14. Borrow money.
- 15. Appoint committees, including standing committees composed of members, state regulators, state legislators or their representatives and consumer representatives, and such other interested persons as may be designated in this compact and the bylaws.
- 16. Provide and receive information from, and cooperate with, law enforcement agencies.
- 17. Establish and elect an executive board.

- 18. Perform such other functions as may be necessary or appropriate to achieve the purposes of this compact consistent with the state regulation of physical therapy licensure and practice.
- D. Provision for the executive board is as follows:
 - 1. The executive board shall have the power to act on behalf of the commission according to the terms of this compact and shall be composed of the following nine members:
 - (a) Seven voting members who are elected by the commission from the current membership of the commission.
 - (b) One ex officio, nonvoting member from the recognized national physical therapy professional association.
 - (c) One ex officio, nonvoting member from the recognized membership organization of the physical therapy licensing boards.
 - 2. The ex officio members will be selected by their respective organizations.
 - 3. The commission may remove any member of the executive board as provided in bylaws.
 - 4. The executive board shall meet at least annually.
 - 5. The executive board shall have the following duties and responsibilities:
 - (a) Recommend to the entire commission changes to the rules or bylaws, to this compact legislation, to fees paid by compact member states such as annual dues and to any commission compact fee charged to licensees for the compact privilege.
 - (b) Ensure compact administration services are appropriately provided, contractual or otherwise.
 - (c) Prepare and recommend the budget.
 - (d) Maintain financial records on behalf of the commission.
 - (e) Monitor compact compliance of member states and provide compliance reports to the commission.
 - (f) Establish additional committees as necessary.
 - (g) Other duties as provided in rules or bylaws.
- E. Meetings of the commission are as follows:
 - 1. All meetings shall be open to the public, and public notice of meetings shall be given in the same manner as required under the rulemaking provisions in section 9 of this compact.

- 2. The commission or the executive board or other committees of the commission may convene in a closed, nonpublic meeting if the commission or executive board or other committees of the commission must discuss any of the following:
 - (a) Noncompliance of a member state with its obligations under the compact.
 - (b) The employment, compensation or discipline of or other matters, practices or procedures related to specific employees, or other matters related to the commission's internal personnel practices and procedures.
 - (c) Current, threatened or reasonably anticipated litigation.
 - (d) The negotiation of contracts for the purchase, lease or sale of goods, services or real estate.
 - (e) Accusing any person of a crime or formally censuring any person.
 - (f) The disclosure of trade secrets or commercial or financial information that is privileged or confidential.
 - (g) The disclosure of information of a personal nature for which disclosure would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.
 - (h) The disclosure of investigative records compiled for law enforcement purposes.
 - (i) The disclosure of information related to any investigative report prepared by or on behalf of or for use of the commission or other committee charged with the responsibility of investigating or determining compliance issues pursuant to this compact.
 - (j) Matters specifically exempt from disclosure by federal or member state statute.
- 3. If a meeting, or portion of a meeting, is closed pursuant to this section, the commission's legal counsel or designee shall certify that the meeting may be closed and shall reference each relevant exempting provision.
- 4. The commission shall keep minutes that fully and clearly describe all matters discussed in a meeting and shall provide a full and accurate summary of actions taken, and the reasons therefore, including a description of the views expressed. All documents considered in connection with an action shall be identified in such minutes. All minutes and documents of a closed meeting shall remain under seal, subject to release by a majority vote of the commission or order of a court of competent jurisdiction.
- F. Financing of the commission is as follows:
 - 1. The commission shall pay, or provide for the payment of, the reasonable expenses of its establishment, organization and ongoing activities.

- 2. The commission may accept any and all appropriate revenue sources, donations and grants of money, equipment, supplies, materials and services.
- 3. The commission may levy on and collect an annual assessment from each member state or impose fees on other parties to cover the cost of the operations and activities of the commission and its staff, which must be in a total amount sufficient to cover its annual budget as approved each year for which revenue is not provided by other sources. The aggregate annual assessment amount shall be allocated based on a formula to be determined by the commission, which shall adopt a rule that is binding on all member states.
- 4. The commission may not incur obligations of any kind before securing the monies adequate to meet those obligations, and the commission may not pledge the credit of any of the member states, except by and with the authority of the member state.
- 5. The commission shall keep accurate accounts of all of its receipts and disbursements, which are subject to the audit and accounting procedures established under its bylaws. All receipts and disbursements of monies handled by the commission shall be audited yearly by a certified or licensed public accountant, and the report of the audit shall be included in and become part of the annual report of the commission.
- G. Qualified immunity, defense and indemnification provisions are as follows:
 - 1. The members, officers, executive director, employees and representatives of the commission are immune from suit and liability, either personally or in their official capacity, for any claim for damage to or loss of property or personal injury or other civil liability caused by or arising out of any actual or alleged act, error or omission that occurred, or that the person against whom the claim is made had a reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of commission employment, duties or responsibilities. this paragraph does not protect any such person from suit or liability for any damage, loss, injury or liability caused by the intentional or willful or wanton misconduct of that person.
 - 2. The commission shall defend any member, officer, executive director, employee or representative of the commission in any civil action seeking to impose liability arising out of any actual or alleged act, error or omission that occurred within the scope of commission employment, duties or responsibilities, or that the person against whom the claim is made had a reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of commission employment, duties not prohibit that person from retaining the person's own counsel if the actual or alleged act, error or omission did not result from that person's intentional or willful or wanton misconduct.
 - 3. The commission shall indemnify and hold harmless any member, officer, executive director, employee or representative of the commission for the amount of any settlement or judgment obtained against that person arising out of any actual or alleged act, error or omission that occurred within the scope of commission employment, duties, or responsibilities, or that such person had a reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of commission employment, duties or responsibilities if the actual or alleged act, error or omission did not result from the intentional or willful or wanton misconduct of that person.

Section 8

Data system

- A. The commission shall provide for the development, maintenance and utilization of a coordinated database and reporting system containing licensure, adverse action and investigative information on all licensed individuals in member states.
- B. Notwithstanding any other provision of state law to the contrary, a member state shall submit a uniform data set to the data system on all individuals to whom this compact applies as required by the rules of the commission, including all of the following:
 - 1. Identifying information.
 - 2. Licensure data.
 - 3. Adverse actions against a license or compact privilege.
 - 4. Nonconfidential information related to alternative program participation.
 - 5. Any denial of an application for licensure and the reason or reasons for such denial.
 - 6. Other information that may facilitate the administration of this compact, as determined by the rules of the commission.
- C. Investigative information pertaining to a licensee in any member state will only be available to other party states.
- D. The commission shall promptly notify all member states of any adverse action taken against a licensee or an individual applying for a license. Adverse action information pertaining to a licensee in any member state will be available to any other member state.
- E. Member states contributing information to the data system may designate information that may not be shared with the public without the express permission of the contributing state.
- F. Any information submitted to the data system that is subsequently required to be expunged by the laws of the member state contributing the information shall be removed from the data system.

Section 9

Rulemaking

A. The commission shall exercise its rulemaking powers pursuant to the criteria set forth in this section and the rules adopted under this section. Rules and amendments become binding as of the date specified in each rule or amendment.

- B. If a majority of the legislatures of the member states reject a rule by enactment of a statute or resolution in the same manner used to adopt the compact within four years after the date of adoption of the rule, the rule has no further force and effect in any member state.
- C. Rules or amendments to the rules shall be adopted at a regular or special meeting of the commission.
- D. Before the adoption of a final rule or rules by the commission, and at least thirty days before the meeting at which the rule will be considered and voted on, the commission shall file a notice of proposed rulemaking on both:
 - 1. The website of the commission or other publicly accessible platform.
 - 2. The website of each member state's physical therapy licensing board or other publicly accessible platform or the publication in which each state would otherwise publish proposed rules.
- E. The notice of proposed rulemaking shall include all of the following:
 - 1. The proposed time, date and location of the meeting in which the rule will be considered and voted on.
 - 2. The text of the proposed rule or amendment and the reason for the proposed rule.
 - 3. A request for comments on the proposed rule from any interested person.
 - 4. The manner in which interested persons may submit notice to the commission of their intention to attend the public hearing, and any written comments.
- F. Before the adoption of a proposed rule, the commission shall allow persons to submit written data, facts, opinions and arguments, which shall be made available to the public.
- G. The commission shall grant an opportunity for a public hearing before it adopts a rule or amendment if a hearing is requested by any of the following:
 - 1. At least twenty-five persons.
 - 2. A state or federal governmental subdivision or agency.
 - 3. An association having at least twenty-five members.
- H. If a hearing is held on the proposed rule or amendment, the commission shall publish the place, time and date of the scheduled public hearing. If the hearing is held via electronic means, the commission shall publish the mechanism for access to the electronic hearing. Additionally:
 - 1. All persons wishing to be heard at the hearing shall notify the executive director of the commission or other designated member in writing of their desire to appear and testify at the hearing at least five business days before the scheduled date of the hearing.

- 2. Hearings shall be conducted in a manner providing each person who wishes to comment a fair and reasonable opportunity to comment orally or in writing.
- 3. All hearings will be recorded. A copy of the recording will be made available on request.
- 4. This section does not require a separate hearing on each rule. Rules may be grouped for the convenience of the commission at hearings required by this section.
- I. Following the scheduled hearing date, or by the close of business on the scheduled hearing date if the hearing was not held, the commission shall consider all written and oral comments received.
- J. If no written notice of intent to attend the public hearing by interested parties is received, the commission may proceed with the adoption of the proposed rule without a public hearing.
- K. The commission, by majority vote of all members, shall take final action on the proposed rule and shall determine the effective date of the rule, if any, based on the rulemaking record and the full text of the rule.
- L. On a determination that an emergency exists, the commission may consider and adopt an emergency rule without prior notice, an opportunity for comment or a hearing if the usual rulemaking procedures provided in the compact and in this section are retroactively applied to the rule as soon as reasonably possible, but not later than ninety days after the effective date of the rule. For the purposes of this subsection, an emergency rule is one that must be adopted immediately in order to do any of the following:
 - 1. Meet an imminent threat to public health, safety or welfare.
 - 2. Prevent a loss of commission or member state funds.
 - 3. Meet a deadline for the adoption of an administrative rule that is established by federal law or rule.
 - 4. Protect the public health and safety.
- M. The commission or an authorized committee of the commission may direct revisions to a previously adopted rule or amendment for purposes of correcting typographical errors, errors in format, errors in consistency or grammatical errors. Public notice of any revisions shall be posted on the website of the commission. The revision is subject to challenge by any person for a period of thirty days after posting. The revision may be challenged only on grounds that the revision results in a material change to a rule. A challenge shall be made in writing and delivered to the chairperson of the commission before the end of the notice period. If no challenge is made, the revision will take effect without further action. If the revision is challenged, the revision may not take effect without the approval of the commission.

Section 10

Oversight, dispute resolution and enforcement

A. Oversight of the commission is as follows:

- 1. The executive, legislative and judicial branches of state government in each member state shall enforce this compact and take all actions necessary and appropriate to effectuate the compact's purposes and intent. The provisions of this compact and the rules adopted under this compact have standing as statutory law.
- 2. All courts shall take judicial notice of the compact and the rules in any judicial or administrative proceeding in a member state pertaining to the subject matter of this compact that may affect the powers, responsibilities or actions of the commission.
- 3. The commission is entitled to receive service of process in any such proceeding and shall have standing to intervene in such a proceeding for all purposes. Failure to provide service of process to the commission shall render a judgment or order void as to the commission, this compact or rules adopted under this compact.
- B. Default, technical assistance and termination provisions are as follows:
 - 1. If the commission determines that a member state has defaulted in the performance of its obligations or responsibilities under this compact or rules adopted under this compact, the commission shall do both of the following:
 - (a) Provide written notice to the defaulting state and other member states of the nature of the default, the proposed means of curing the default or any other action to be taken by the commission.
 - (b) Provide remedial training and specific technical assistance regarding the default.
 - 2. If a state in default fails to cure the default, the defaulting state may be terminated from the compact on an affirmative vote of a majority of the member states, and all rights, privileges and benefits conferred by this compact may be terminated on the effective date of termination. A cure of the default does not relieve the offending state of obligations or liabilities incurred during the period of default.
 - 3. Termination of membership in the compact shall be imposed only after all other means of securing compliance have been exhausted. Notice of intent to suspend or terminate shall be given by the commission to the governor, the majority and minority leaders of the defaulting state's legislature and each of the member states.
 - 4. A state that has been terminated is responsible for all assessments, obligations and liabilities incurred through the effective date of termination, including obligations that extend beyond the effective date of termination.
 - 5. The commission may not bear any costs related to a state that is found to be in default or that has been terminated from the compact, unless agreed on in writing between the commission and the defaulting state.

- 6. The defaulting state may appeal the action of the commission by petitioning the United States district court for the District of Columbia or the federal district where the commission has its principal offices. The prevailing party shall be awarded all costs of such litigation, including reasonable attorney fees.
- C. Dispute resolution provisions are as follows:
 - 1. On request by a member state, the commission shall attempt to resolve disputes related to the compact that arise among member states and between member and nonmember states.
 - 2. The commission shall adopt a rule providing for both mediation and binding dispute resolution for disputes as appropriate.
- D. Enforcement provisions are as follows:
 - 1. The commission, in the reasonable exercise of its discretion, shall enforce the provisions and rules of this compact.
 - 2. By majority vote, the commission may initiate legal action in the United States district court for the District of Columbia or the federal district where the commission has its principal offices against a member state in default to enforce compliance with the provisions of the compact and its adopted rules and bylaws. The relief sought may include both injunctive relief and damages. If judicial enforcement is necessary, the prevailing member shall be awarded all costs of such litigation, including reasonable attorney fees.
 - 3. The remedies in this compact are not the exclusive remedies of the commission. The commission may pursue any other remedies available under federal or state law.

Section 11

Date of implementation of the interstate commission

for physical therapy practice and associated

rules, withdrawal and amendment

- A. This compact is effective on the date on which the compact statute is enacted into law in the tenth member state. The provisions, which become effective at that time, shall be limited to the powers granted to the commission relating to assembly and the adoption of rules. Thereafter, the commission shall meet and exercise rulemaking powers necessary to the implementation and administration of this compact.
- B. Any state that joins the compact subsequent to the commission's initial adoption of the rules is subject to the rules as they exist on the date on which the compact becomes law in that state. Any rule that has been previously adopted by the commission shall have the full force and effect of law on the day the compact becomes law in that state.

- C. Any member state may withdraw from this compact by enacting a statute repealing the same:
 - 1. A member state's withdrawal shall not take effect until six months after enactment of the repealing statute.
 - 2. Withdrawal shall not affect the continuing requirement of the withdrawing state's physical therapy licensing board to comply with the investigative and adverse action reporting requirements of this act before the effective date of withdrawal.
- D. This compact does not invalidate or prevent any physical therapy licensure agreement or other cooperative arrangement between a member state and a nonmember state that does not conflict with the provisions of this compact.
- E. This compact may be amended by the member states. An amendment to this compact does not become effective and binding on any member state until it is enacted into the laws of all member states.

Section 12

Construction and severability

This compact shall be liberally construed so as to effectuate the purposes thereof. The provisions of this compact shall be severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence or provision of this compact is declared to be contrary to the constitution of any party state or of the United States or if the applicability thereof to any government, agency, person or circumstance is held invalid, the validity of the remainder of this compact and the applicability thereof to any government, agency, person or circumstance, person or circumstance shall not be affected thereby. If this compact is held contrary to the constitution of any party state, the compact shall remain in full force and effect as to the remaining party states and in full force and effect as to the party state affected as to all severable matters.

32-2054. Participation in compact as condition of employment; prohibition

An employer may not require a physical therapist to seek licensure through the physical therapy licensure compact enacted by section 32-2053 as a condition of initial or continued employment as a physical therapist in this state. An employer may require that a physical therapist obtain and maintain a license to practice physical therapy in multiple states, if the physical therapist is free to obtain and maintain the licenses by any means authorized by the laws of the respective states.

32-2055. Open meeting requirements

If a meeting, or a portion of a meeting, of the physical therapy compact commission is closed pursuant to section 32-2053, section 7, subsection E, the commission's legal counsel or designee shall certify that the meeting may be closed and shall reference each relevant exempting provision consistent with title 38, chapter 3, article 3.1.

32-2056. Board of physical therapy; notice of commission actions; expenditure of certain monies prohibited

The board of physical therapy:

- 1. Within thirty days after a physical therapy compact commission action shall post on the board's public website notice of any commission action that may affect a physical therapist's license.
- 2. May not spend any monies received from physical therapists or applicants for licensure who are not applying for licensure through this compact on any activities, obligations or duties required by this compact.